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Alexander Rossi donated all of Block 35 of the original Townsite of Boise
City, a tract 300 by 380 feet and bounded by Main, Second, Idaho, and Third
Streets, to the Federal Government for the site of the Assay Office. The
transfer of property was finally processed December 11, 1869, and at that
time the block was only a "dry plat of desert sagebrush,' but it was
slightly elevated and one of the best locations in the town, even if it was
rather far from the business district.

Ground was broken in June 1870 and by July 1871 construction had met the
architect's specifications. John R. McBride, former Congressman from Oregon
and Chief Justice of the Idaho Territorial Court, had personally visited

the Secretary of the Treasury in Washington to persuade him to expedite
construction of the Assay Office in Boise. McBride offered to erect the
building himself with the appropriated sum. Having accomplished this,
McBride was appointed Superintendent of the Assay Office.

Completed a total cost of $76,925.33, as John A. Hussey wrote, "The new
Assay Office .was the pride of Boise and of all Idaho. Man's search for
wealth in the earth was the dominant theme of pioneer life in the territory,
and the Assay Office was the symbol of national and local interest in
Idaho's mines."

The building was only 46 by 48 feet in dimension, yet it was certainly one
of the earliest monumental (for its size) buildings in the inland region
of the Pacific Northwest, and its dignity, style and substantial stone
construction contrasted sharply with the many log and wooden buildings in
the new territorial capital.

The Assay Office is about 45 feet high, composed of two stories plus a base-
ment, topped by a low hip roof with a small central cupola (ventilator).
There are two tall chimneys in the rear and two smaller chimneys rise from
each of the side walls. The exterior was constructed of local Boise sand-
stone, and the walls are more than two feet thick. The face of coursed
rustic stone contrasts with the ashlar quoining of the corners and windows.
Applied decoration was held to a minimum, being largely confined to classic
pediments over the front entrance and the front upper center window. Another
interesting feature is the bracketing of the eaves by the projection of the
rafter timbers.

Protection of the building and its contents was provided by heavy iron bars
placed outside all the front and side windows.. The rear wall was of solid
stone except for a door and one upper window, also barred. The doors were
equipped with protective interior iron cages. Boise residents donated and
planted the trees and shrubs which landscape the block.
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Erected by the United States Government in 1870-71, the Boise Assay Office was
the most important example of public architecture in Idaho until the 20th
century. The building is a symbol of the importance of mining in the political,
social, economic and legal development of Idaho and the Far West, and also bears
testimony to Federal encouragement of mining in that territory.

The discovery of gold on the Clearwater River by Captain Elias Davidson Pierce
in 1860, brought a rush of miners to northern Idaho in 1861. This strike

was followed by the opening of new placer mines, on the Salmon River in 1862,
and then in the Boise Basin in 1863. Considerable rushes followed both

of these discoveries. With a population of some 20,656 miners, Idaho was
established as a territory on March 4, 1863.

These Idaho placer mines were at first exceedingly rich. Between 1861 and

1866, Idaho's gold output totaled somewhere between $42,000,000 and $52,000,000,
or about 19% of the United States total production during this period. This
yield placed Idaho third, after California and Nevada, in gold production
during the 1861-66 period.

The Idaho miners, however, were isolated by great distances and mountains from
the rest of the country, and they therefore found it difficult to dispose

of their products except at heavy cost. As a result, as early as 1864 there
was a strong demand for a Federal mint or assay office in Idaho. By an Act
approved February 19, 1869, Congress responded and appropriated $75,000 to
erect a U.S. Assay Office in Boise.

Plans and specifications for the building were drawn up under the direction

of Alfred B. Mullet, Supervising Architect of the Treasury Department and con-
struction began in July 1870. The new Assay Office was substantially completed
by June 1871, but a delay in the receipt of the machinery prevented the first
assay from being made until March 2, 1872.

By this date, the rich surface placers had been largely worked out and Idaho
gold production underwent a considerable slump until 1883, when reports of gold
led to a rush to the Coeur d'Alene region of northern Idaho. Gold production
doubled in 1884. The transcontinental railroads, together with considerable
amounts of Eastern and San Francisco capital, reached Idaho in 1887. Deep mine
shafts were sunk to reach the quartz veins, stamp mills and smelters were

erected, and new mines, producing silver and lead, were opened.
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On the interior, the first floor contained the assayers' offices, vaults and
safes for the storage of bullion, the assaying and melting rooms with their
furnaces, the laboratory, and the storage cabinet for "reagents.'" The

upper story was devoted entirely to the living quarters for the chief assayer:
parlor, pantry, dining room, kitchen, and three bedrooms. Supply and fuel
rooms and guards' quarters were in the brick basement. Two wells in the
cellar were later supplemented by water piped in from a local supply.

As early as 1887 the Director of the Mint pointed out that the Assay Building
and grounds needed repair and that new equipment was required. Congress made
the necessary appropriation, and in 1889 '"many much-needed improvements in
the way of repairs' were made to the structure and its landscaped setting,
including the erection of a new iron fence around the gounds.

The renovation continued during 1890, when new floors were put in the
operating rooms and a "hot and cold water system' and incandescent electric
lights were installed. 1In 1898 the melting room was moved from the first
floor to the basement. The vacated space became the clerical office work-
room. Various improvements to the assaying equipment and apparatus were
made during this same period of high deposits.

After the Assay Office was closed, the building was turned over to the U.S.
Forest Service as headquarters for the Boise and Payette National Forests,
effective in 1933 after several years of planning. The plans drawn up in
1931 were acted upon, and the building was remodeled for office use. On the
exterior, the main changes were the removal of the iron bars from the windows
and doors, the substitution of steel sash for the original wood window frames
and sash, and the piercing of the rear wall for the installation of six new
windows. Perhaps at this time one of the large rear chimneys was removed,
although this action may have been taken earlier. Inside the building the
reverberatory furnaces, the retorts, vaults, and other equipment were
removed, and partitions were rearranged.

The Forest Service occupied the building until 1972, when the Idaho State
Historical Society assumed ownership. Since then the building has been reroofed
and is presently used to house offices and a museun.

Descriptive material taken primarily from John A. Hussey, '"Building Most Valuable:
The Story of the Idaho Assay Office" Idaho Yesterdays Vol. V, Spring 1961.

This site was not visited by the boundary review team.
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By 1895 deposits in the U.S. Assay Office at Boise reached more than one
million dollars for the year, and for the next 11 years these averaged one
and one-half million dollars annually. By 1917 the Idaho mines had yielded
a total of $400,000,000 in minerals: one-quarter in gold, one-quarter in
silver, and one-half in lead.

The Assay Office continued its operations until June 30, 1933, when it was
turned over to the U.S. Forest Service as headquarters for the Boise National
Forest. 1In 1970 the Forest Service vacated the building which is currently
maintained by the Idaho Historical Society as a musuem.

History from original 1963 and 1964 Historic Sites Survey reports by Charles W.
Snell.
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John A. Hussey, "Building Most Valuable; The Story of the Idaho Assay Office"
Idaho Yesterday (Spring Issue, 1961) Vol. V, No. 1, 2-13.

1848-1900 (Norman, 1963)

John A. Hussey, "Former U.S. Assay Office, 210 Main Street, Boise, Idaho,"
NPS report, 10 pp. (San Francisco, April 1961).

Charles W. Snell, NPS, Historic Sites Survey reports 1963 and 1964,

Item 9. The title of Dorothy Johansen's book is Empire of the Columbia.
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The Assay Office is located in the center of Block 35 in the City of Boise
in SE 1/4 NE 1/4 of Section 10, T3N, R2E. The national historic landmark
boundary has been drawn around the 300 by 280 foot block which was given to
the Federal Government in 1869 for the construction of the assay building.
Beginning at the west corner of the intersection of Idaho and Third Streets,
the boundary runs along the west curb of Third Street in a southwesterly
direction to the intersection of Third and Main Streets; thence in a
northwesterly direction along the north curb of Main Street to the intersection
of Main and Second Streets; thence in a northeasterly direction along the
east curb of Second Street to the intersection of Second and Idaho Streets;
thence in a southeasterly direction along the south curb of Idaho to the
beginning point.
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